1977

# Shirley Rodgers v. Annie N. Hansen And Albert J. Hansen : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action to quiet title, under the doctrine of equitable mortgage, to property located at 412 North 300 West in Salt Lake City, more particularly described as follows:

COMMENCING at a point 5 rods North of the Southwest corner of Lot 2, Block 121, Plat "A", Salt Lake City Survey, and running thence East 153 feet; thence North 2-1/2 rods; thence West 153 feet; thence South 2-1/2 rods to the place of beginning.

Together with and subject to a right of way over: Commencing at a point 153 feet East of the Southwest corner of said Lot 2, and running thence North 10 rods; thence West 10 feet; thence South 10 rods; thence East 10 feet to the place of beginning.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court on September 23, 1976, with judgment being entered in favor of defendants on March 25,

1977 (R. 123-124). The court dismissed plaintiff's complaint with prejudice and upon the merits and granted judgment for defendants on their counterclaim; title to a two-thirds interest in the subject property was quieted in defendants and a trust was impressed upon the one-third interest owned by plaintiff (Id.). On June 15, 1977, the court denied plaintiff's motion to set aside the judgment or, in the alternative, for a new trial (R. 131). Plaintiff now appeals.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff/appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and judgment in her favor as a matter of law or, that failing, a new trial. In any event, plaintiff/appellant seeks a determination that, if the judgment should stand in all other respects, she is entitled to a one-half interest in the subject property rather than to a one-third interest as found by the lower court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 25, 1942, William and Vivian Newsome entered into a Uniform Real Estate Contract (Ex. 1-P) with Harold and Myrtle Neil, the Neils agreeing to purchase from the Newsomes for \$3,250.00 the property which is the subject matter of this litigation. Although the receipts for the \$400.00 down payment (Ex. 12-D) and for a number of the payments in the amount of \$325.00 under the foregoing contract (Ex. 9-D) are made out to Harold E. Neil and/or Myrtle C. Neil, the defendants claimed and the court found (R. 110) that these payments were made by the defendants. Nevertheless, these payments were not in the nature of a business



deal but rather were made by the defendants, the Neils' daughter and son-in-law, out of a feeling of love and family responsibility (Tr. 78); repayment by Harold and Myrtle Neil was never discussed (Tr. 67, 78). The defendants have based no claim of an interest in this property upon these payments under the Uniform Real Estate Contract of 1942.

Subsequent to entering into the real estate contract, Mr. Neil died in 1942 (R. 19-20). Apparently, Mrs. Neil experienced difficulty in providing the payments for the property and sought help from the Hansens. It is undisputed that the Hansens provided the funds to pay off the full amount due to the Newsomes under the real estate contract, \$2,389.00 (See paragraph 2 of Stipulation of September 22, 1976--R. 96), and that on July 7, 1944, the Newsomes executed a warranty deed (Ex. 2-P) conveying the subject property "to Myrtle C. Neil and Annie N. Hansen and Albert J. Hansen, her husband, as joint tenants and not as tenants in common." The significance of these actions, however, is in dispute.

The Hansens maintain that they purchased outright a two-thirds interest in the property when making the \$2,389 payment and that the reason for the joint tenancy wording was so that if one of the three should die the other two would still own the property (Tr. 72, 73). They claim that they made no loan to Mrs. Neil (Tr. 87) and that they never agreed to reconvey their interest to her (Tr. 73, 88). Shirley Rodgers, the successor in interest to Mrs. Neil, however, contends that a loan and mortgage

arrangement was exactly what was anticipated by the parties; in other words, the deed absolute on its face was intended as a mortgage with Mrs. Neil taking title subject to the mortgage interest of the Newsomes.

After the execution of the warranty deed, Mrs. Neil maintained sole possession of the property until she died on August 24, 1975 (Tr. 20). She paid the real property taxes (See Tr. 24-25 and Ex. 10-P) and also paid the maintenance and upkeep (See Tr. 26 and Ex. 11-P). Furthermore, she believed that the property, her home, was hers and that the arrangement of the names of the grantees on the warranty deed was very misleading (Tr. 30).

Of even more importance, Mrs. Neil started making payments to the Hansens almost immediately. These payments are evidenced by a series of 43 receipts (Ex. 6-P) which bear the signature of and were executed by defendant Annie N. Hansen (See paragraph 3 of Stipulation of September 22, 1976--R. 96). These receipts all indicate that the payments they evidence were "house payments," often also indicating the address of the subject property. The first receipt in the series reflects a "Previous Balance" of \$2,389.00, the exact amount paid to the Newsomes, and each of the payments reflect the amount paid being deducted from that figure which is then reduced to reflect a new "Balance Due." Although most of these receipts evidence payments of \$25.00, many are for different amounts ranging from \$7.50 to \$70.00. Also, although most of these receipts are to Myrtle Neil, the last ten

beginning with an unnumbered receipt dated June 8, 1948, are to Myrtle Yeaman, reflecting the fact that she married one Nathan Thomas Yeaman in 1948 (Tr. 20). The final receipt in the series is dated August 5, 1949, and shows a balance then due to the Hansens from Mrs. Neil of \$1,055.00.

In 1958, apparently upset by a potential sale of the property arranged by the Hansens, Mrs. Neil contacted an attorney, Emmett L. Brown, who on September 29, 1958, wrote a letter to the Hansens (Ex. 13-P) in which he pointed out that Mrs. Neil had paid back a large amount of the money advanced by the Hansens. On September 30, 1958, Mrs. Hansen wrote a reply (Ex. 14-P) which, although generally incoherent, acknowledged receipt of payments by Mrs. Neil.

On February 12, 1964, in an effort to destroy any possible joint tenancy that might have been construed under the aforementioned warranty deed (Tr. 29-30), Mrs. Neil conveyed by quitclaim deed (Ex. 4-P) all of her right, title, estate and interest in the subject property to her daughter Shirley Rodgers, the plaintiff/appellant. Mrs. Rodgers, on that same date, reconveyed by quitclaim deed (Ex. 3-P) the same right, title, estate and interest to Mrs. Neil.

As noted above, Mrs. Neil considered the property hers and found the wording of the warranty deed misleading. This troubled her and was on her mind constantly, especially in the last seven to ten years of her life (Tr. 27, 47-48). In an effort to clear matters up she met with the Hansens at their home

in the summer of 1968 (Tr. 30 et seq.). An effort was made at that meeting to determine the amount due to the Hansens in order that Mrs. Neil might clear up any title problem (Tr. 32-33). Even though the last receipt in 1949 had shown a balance due on the property of \$1,055.00, Mrs. Neil stated that she believed she owed only about \$250, more or less, because she had not always received receipts when making payments (Tr. 33; see also Tr. 46). In answer, Mrs. Hansen stated that more than that was due (Tr. 33) and Mr. Hansen indicated interest was due even though the original agreement was for an interest-free loan (Tr. 34). Nothing, however, was resolved then (Tr. 34).

After the 1968 meeting, Mrs. Neil did not institute any legal proceedings because she was ill and did not wish to take her own daughter to court (Tr. 35). Instead, she executed a second quitclaim deed in favor of Mrs. Rodgers (Ex. 5-P) on May 21, 1971, so that she might eventually resolve the matter. The lower court ruled that Mrs. Rodgers did not take this interest as an individual but rather as a trustee with the property or its proceeds to be distributed by her in accordance with the will of Mrs. Neil (Ex. 8-D) which was executed on May 10, 1974. Plaintiff-appellant does not dispute that such was her mother's intent.

Mrs. Neil died on August 24, 1975. Within days after the death of Mrs. Neil, the mother of both Shirley Rodgers and Annie Hansen, Mrs. Rodgers attempted to settle the question of title to the subject property with defendants. Unable to do so, plaintiff commenced this quiet title action by filing the complaint.

(R. 2-4) on September 12, 1975, less than three weeks following the death of Mrs. Neil.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE COURT, AS TO  
TITLE TO THE SUBJECT PROPERTY,  
IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

This case is essentially to quiet title to the subject property in Shirley Rodgers based upon the fact that she holds title, as did her mother and predecessor in interest Myrtle C. Neil, subject only to an equitable mortgage in Annie and Albert Hansen. It is Mrs. Rodgers' contention that in 1944 the Hansens agreed to loan Mrs. Neil the money to pay off the Newsomes and acquire title to the subject property; that Mrs. Neil in turn agreed to secure repayment by listing the Hansens as joint tenants of the property until such time as she repaid the loan to them, and this in fact was done as reflected in the warranty deed of 1944 (Ex. 2-P). At all times, however, Mrs. Neil was to be considered the sole owner in fee simple of the property subject only to the lien held by the Hansens, with the relationship to be that of mortgagor and mortgagees, not joint tenants.

This contention by plaintiff is based in the concept of equitable mortgage. An equitable mortgage is not characterized by the standard legal niceties which one associates with a formal written legal mortgage filed at the County Recorder's office. In fact, an equitable mortgage need not even be evidenced by writing. Rather, an equitable mortgage is based upon the totality of the

transaction and is referable to the maxim that equity considers that as done which ought to be done. 55 Am.Jur.2d Mortgages § 1 at 200.

The basic concepts of equitable mortgage can be found in 59 C.J.S. Mortgages § 13 at 42-44, wherein it is stated:

[G]enerally, whenever a transaction resolves itself into a security, or an offer or attempt to pledge land as security for a debt or liability, equity will treat it as a mortgage, without regard to the form it may assume, or the name the parties may choose to give it. In applying the doctrine of equitable mortgages doubts are resolved in favor of the transaction being a mortgage. . . .

In order that an equitable mortgage may exist it is essential that the mortgagor have a mortgageable interest in the property sought to be charged as security, and that there be clear proof of the sum which it was to secure. It is absolutely essential to its existence that there be a definite debt, obligation, or liability to be secured, due from the mortgagor to the mortgagee. It is not necessary, however, that the debt secured should be evidenced by notes, bonds, or any other written obligation or promise to pay.

\* \* \*

. . . The doctrine of equitable mortgages has been held not to be limited to written instruments intended as mortgages, but to extend to a variety of parol transactions. Where equity and good conscience so require, such a mortgage may be found, even though no writing exists.

The concept of equitable mortgage has been recognized in Utah, most notably in Bybee v. Stuart, 112 Utah 462, 468-69, 189 P.2d 118, 122 (1948), wherein it is stated:

It is true, of course, that a warranty deed, absolute in form, is presumed to convey a fee simple title, or at least whatever title the grantor has. But where, as here, there is a written agreement between the parties, contemporaneous with the deed, which shows the deed to have been given for security purposes, the court will look to the real transaction and treat it as a mortgage. Brown v. Skeen, 89 Utah 568, 58 P.2d 24. . . .

. . . [I]n equity a deed absolute upon its face may be shown by a parol evidence to have been given for security purposes only, and when such a showing has been made, equity will give effect to the intention of the parties. Such security transactions, lacking the requisites of a formal mortgage, are termed equitable mortgages. 1 Jones on Mortgages, Chapter 5; Wasatch Min. Co. v. Jennins, 5 Utah 243, 251, 15 P. 65; Duerden v. Solomon, 33 Utah 468, 94 P. 978; Hess v. Anger, 53 Utah 186, 177 P. 232. See also 3 Jones, Commentaries on Evidence, 2d Edition, page 2793, Section 1531.

See also Taylor v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 39, 43, 492 P.2d 1343, 1346 (1972); Kjar v. Brimley, 27 Utah 2d 411, 497 P.2d 23 (1972).

Admittedly, the cases in Utah which have involved an equitable mortgage dealt with a deed absolute on its face in which the grantor himself wished to create a mortgagor-mortgagee, rather than grantor-grantee, relationship and that is not the case here. However, as noted above, the concept extends to a variety of parol transactions, including advancing purchase money to one who is buying property and he, in turn, has the lender listed as grantee. This is set forth in 59 C.J.S. Mortgages § 14e. at 47 as follows:



If a person who has contracted for the purchase of land procures another to lend him all or part of the money necessary to make the payments, or to advance it for him, and has the deed made to the latter, with an agreement that he will convey the title to the former on repayment of the amount advanced, the transaction will amount to an equitable mortgage if it was the understanding and intention of the parties that the one should become debtor to the other for the money advanced, and that the land should be held merely as security for this debt.

Clearly, in light of the foregoing, it is the intent of the transaction, and not the use of "magic words" like "mortgage" or "lien," that is important in determining the existence of an equitable mortgage. This is especially true in a case such as this one where we are dealing with a transaction entered into by persons of limited education (Tr. 52-53).

Therefore, if the evidence indicated a transaction between Mrs. Neil and the Hansens, as described above, an equitable mortgage was created and Mrs. Neil took title in the property subject only to that equitable mortgage in the Hansens.

The basic factors which needed to be shown to establish that relationship, based on the principles cited above from C.J.S., were a mortgageable interest in the property and a definite debt secured by the property. The evidence clearly indicates that Mrs. Neil, at all relevant times, had an interest in the property, first under the 1942 real estate contract (Ex. 1-P) and then under the 1944 warranty deed (Ex. 2-P). As far as the debt is concerned, the series of 43 receipts (Ex. 6-P) amounted to clear and convincing evidence thereof and formed the



backbone of appellant's case below. Contrary to his findings and conclusions, Judge Leary himself even indicated that these receipts evidenced payments from Mrs. Neil to the Hansens commencing almost contemporaneously with the execution of the warranty deed (Tr. 64). However, this Court need not be bound by any findings below as to these receipts. In Lake v. Hermes Associates, 552 P.2d 126, 128 (Utah 1976), it is stated:

[W]here the resolution of the controversy depends upon meaning to be given documents, the trial court is in no more favored position and is no better able to determine the meaning of such documents than is this court.

Receipt number one, dated October 20, 1944, itself fairly well sets out the entire transaction. It indicates that the Hansens received a payment of \$25.00 from Mrs. Neil "For payment on house 415 N. 2nd West." It states the "Previous Balance" as \$2,389, the exact amount paid to the Newsomes. The \$25 payment is then deducted, leaving a "Balance Due" of \$2,364, the exact amount which appears as the "Previous Balance" on receipt number two, dated November 29, 1944. The back of the first receipt also reflects the transaction, both with the Newsomes and between Mrs. Neil and the Hansens. In fact, it even indicates that the loan to Mrs. Neil was to be interest-free. Written on the back of the receipt is the following:

Save 12.70 a month  
interest

interest	12.70
principle [sic]	12.30

In accordance with that, each payment reflected by the receipts is deducted in full from the amount listed as the previous balance. These receipts show that Mrs. Neil was making payments to the Hansens for the amount advanced to her by them and that they were acknowledging receipt of those payments and reducing the amount due from her. No other explanation can be made of these receipts, a fact recognized in the 1958 letter from Emmett Brown to the Hansens (Ex. 13-P) in which he stated:

As you are well aware, Mrs. Neil has paid you back out of this sum, approximately \$1,100.00, and if it were your intent to have the two-thirds interest in this home, it is hard to understand the basis upon which she would be paying you back that amount of money.

No explanation by the Hansens was given to Mr. Brown in 1958, other than Mrs. Hansen acknowledging:

My Mother paid us when ever however she wanted 600.00 Between 1944 And 1948 No questions asked & she paid no interest. [See Ex. 14-P.]

Similarly, when her deposition was taken on November 10, 1976, Mrs. Hansen not only denied receiving payments from her mother but also denied ever giving her any receipts (See generally Transcript of Deposition of Annie N. Hansen at 11-13). And she specifically denied knowing what the purpose of said receipts, if they existed, might be:

Q If . . . your mother had made payments that were deducted from the balance of \$2,389., do you know what purposes those payments would have been for?

A I don't know. [Transcript of Deposition of Annie N. Hansen at 13.]

However, by the time Mrs. Hansen testified at the trial of this matter, she had developed an explanation.

At trial, Mrs. Hansen testified that the receipts, the entire series, were part of an elaborate welfare fraud scheme (Tr. 85 et seq.). She claimed the receipts were given to "get money from the Welfare" (Tr. 86) and that they were for \$25 in order to get a housing allowance in that amount (Tr. 91). However, she could not explain why certain receipts were for other amounts, such as \$30, \$7, \$45 or \$70 (Tr. 91, 92-94). Also, she claimed the receipts stopped in 1949 because her mother "got married to Thomas Yeaman" and could no longer receive the welfare housing allowance (Tr. 86), yet the last ten of the receipts, issued between June 8, 1948, and August 5, 1949, were made out to "Myrtle Yeaman" (See Ex. 6-P).

Not only was Mrs. Hansen's story a complete surprise to Mrs. Rodgers and her counsel (Tr. 103) and ridiculously inconsistent, it was evidence which could form no basis whatsoever for the lower court's decision. In 37 Am.Jur.2d Fraud and Deceit § 301 at 397 it is stated as the general rule that:

No one will be permitted in a court of justice to take advantage of, or claim protection by reason of, his own fraud . . . .

Similarly, in Grover v. Garn, 23 Utah 2d 441, 447, 464 P.2d 598, 602 (1970), it is stated:

[U]nder the doctrine or principle of estoppel in pais one may by his acts or conduct away from the court prevent himself from denying in court the effect or result of those acts.

Clearly, the Hansens cannot hope to profit from what they assert was a fraud upon the state. They cannot admit to Emmett Brown that Mrs. Neil made payments to them on the house and even deny under oath the very existence of these receipts and then come into court and claim that no payments were made and that the receipts were only the device by which they helped perpetrate a welfare fraud. The Hansens must be bound by the inferences to be drawn from these receipts. Those inferences are that they made an interest-free loan to Mrs. Neil, in order that she might acquire title to the subject property, which loan was secured by the property itself, and that she made payments to them on the loan, at least 43 of which are evidenced by the receipts themselves. No other reasonable explanation can be derived from the evidence presented to the lower court which erred in ruling as it did.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE  
STATUTE OF FRAUDS WAS APPLICABLE  
TO THIS CASE.

The lower court erroneously concluded this action was a case in the nature of specific performance of an agreement to sell the Hansens' interest in the subject property to Mrs. Neil and that such an agreement violates the statute of frauds, Utah Code Annotated § 25-5-1 (1976) (R. 113) in that the receipts (Ex. 6-P) were insufficient to take the alleged agreement out of the statute of frauds, either as a written memorandum or under the doctrine of part performance (R. 114). This conclusion clearly

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