1977

Shirley Rodgers v. Annie N. Hansen And Albert J. Hansen : Respondents' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

. . .

(c) The transfer was made as security for an indebtedness of the transferor
Restatement (Second) of Trusts, §44 (1954).

The above rule has been adopted by Utah courts in such cases as Wasatch Mineral Co. v. Jennings, 5 Utah 243, 15 P.65, (1887), and Taylor v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 39, 492 P.2d 1343, 134 (1972). It is significant to note, however, that in both of the above cases the mortgagor had executed a deed absolute in favor of the mortgagee. Indeed, plaintiff freely admits that she has been unable to find any Utah cases in which an equitable mortgage was created by means of a conveyance from a third-party grantor to

grantees who bore the relationship of mortgagor/mortgagee to one another. (See Appellant's Brief, P. 9.)

The above quoted passage from the Restatement clearly relates only to situations in which A conveys to B by absolute deed, but intends only to create a mortgage interest in B. Under such circumstances, the transaction is clearly within the trust exception to the statute of frauds since the law imposes a constructive trust on the property. This is not the case where A conveys to B and C, intending to convey the property in fee to B subject to a mortgage in favor of C. Under such circumstances, Section 45 of the Restatement sets forth a different rule:

(1) Where the owner of an interest in land transfers it inter vivos to another in trust for a third person but no memorandum properly evidencing the intention to create a trust is signed, as required by the statute of frauds, and the transferee refuses to perform the trust, the transferee holds the interest upon a constructive trust for the third person, if, but only if,

(a) The transferee by fraud, duress or undue influence prevented the transferor from creating an enforceable interest in the third person, or

(b) The transferee at the time of the transfer was in a confidential relation to the transferor, or

(c) The transfer was made by the transferor in anticipation of death.

Restatement (Second) Trusts, §45.

As adopted in Utah, this doctrine is even broader than the rule proposed by the Restatement. Thus, in Chadwick v. Arnold, 34 Utah 48, 95 P. 527, 530 (1908) the court stated:

[I]f A, having no interest in the real estate, orally agrees with B that the latter should purchase it with his own funds and take the title in his own name, and that he should thereafter convey it to A upon an agreed price, no resulting or constructive trust arises, and . . . such a contract is also within the statute of frauds.

Thus, while in general the statute of frauds requires that a conveyance of an interest in land be in writing, a well-recognized exception to this rule is that the statute is inapplicable to the creation of a trust. As a consequence, in most equitable mortgage cases, the statute is inapplicable because the courts which have recognized the existence of an equitable mortgage have also recognized the existence of a constructive trust. It follows that in cases where no trust is present the enforcement of an equitable mortgage may be barred by the statute of frauds. This is the significance of Section 45 of the Restatement and the rule set forth in Chadwick v. Arnold, supra.

In the instant action, Mrs. Neil, having only a small equitable interest in the property allegedly orally agreed with defendants that they should purchase the property with their own funds and take title to a two-thirds interest in their own name, and that they should convey it to Mrs. Neil upon an agreed price. Thus, even if plaintiff's allegations are true, under the rule Chadwick v. Arnold, supra, the agreement is unenforceable under the statute of frauds.

But even if the more liberal Restatement rule were adopted, the necessary prerequisites to the creation of a constructive trust are not present. These are: (a) transfer under duress, fraud or undue influence, or (b) transfer to one who holds a confidential relationship to the transferor, or (c) transfer in anticipation of death. It should be noted that these elements are not present here. The court specifically found that the deed was not executed under the influence of fraud or duress.

(Conclusion of Law No. 4, Tr. 113.) Indeed, plaintiff has not alleged the existence of fraud, duress or undue influence. Similarly, it is not contended--and the evidence would not support such an allegation--that the transferees, Mrs. Neil and the Hansens, stood in a confidential relationship to the grantor, Mr. Newsome. Finally, there is no evidence to suggest that the transfer was made in anticipation of the transferor's death, nor does plaintiff allege this to be the case.

Thus, the facts in the instant case do not give rise to a finding that a constructive trust was created. Because the alleged arrangement between Mrs. Neil and the defendants was not in writing, the transaction falls with the statute of frauds.

B. THE DOCTRINES OF PART PERFORMANCE AND WRITTEN
MEMORANDUM ARE INAPPLICABLE

Plaintiff further contends that even if the statute of frauds were otherwise applicable, the transaction in question is taken out of the statute by reason of the doctrines of part performance and written memorandum. These doctrines are set forth in the Utah Code as follows:

Section 25-5-3. Leases and Contracts for Interest in Lands - Every contract . . . for the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease or sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

Section 25-5-8. Right to Specific Performance Not Affected - Nothing in this chapter contained shall be construed to abridge the power of courts to compel the specific performance of agreements in case of part performance thereof.

Conceptually, both the doctrines of part performance and specific performance are based upon the same basic premise, namely,

that an agreement otherwise unenforceable under the statute of frauds will be enforced if the actions of the parties have so clearly defined the terms of the contract as to permit its enforcement. Thus, as to part performance, it has been stated:

[T]hree general criteria emerge in removing an oral contract from the statute of frauds by part performance. First, the oral contract and its terms must be clear and definite; second, the acts done in performance of the contract must be equally clear and definite; and third, the acts must be in reliance on the contract. Randall v. Tracy Collins Trust Co., 6 Utah 2d 18, 305 P.2d 480, 484 (1956). See also 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statute of Frauds, §407.

Similarly, as to the doctrine of written memorandum, it has been stated:

A memorandum sufficient to satisfy the requirement of the statute of frauds must be complete in itself as to the parties to, and the essential terms of, the contract. The memorandum cannot rest partly in writing and partly in parol; that is to say, a deficiency in the memorandum cannot be supplied by parol evidence. 72 Am. Jur. 2d Statute of Frauds, §296.

This court has also adopted the above rule. In Birdze v. Utah Oil Refining Co., 121 Utah 412, 242 P.2d 578, 580 (1952) this court stated:

It is fundamental that the memorandum which is relied upon to satisfy the statute of frauds must contain all the essential terms and provisions of the contract.

In view of the foregoing, it is clear that the mere existence of a set of receipts purporting to acknowledge receipt of a certain sum of money from Mrs. Neil by Mrs. Hansen for "paid on house" does not necessarily take this case out of the statute of frauds. The critical question as raised by the above cited authorities is whether the terms of the alleged contract are clearly enough shown by part performance and by the receipts to

permit enforcement thereof. An examination of the alleged acts of part performance and of the receipts shows that the provisions for which plaintiff seeks specific performance cannot be deduced from the acts of Mrs. Neil and the Hansens.

As described above, the receipts typically show acknowledgment of a sum of money (usually \$25.00) from Mrs. Neil by Mrs. Hansen. The document shows the date of the receipt, the balance due and the fact that the payment was for "payment on home" or "payment on house". Even assuming that Mrs. Neil did in fact receive the payments receipted--and she denies this fact-- the last receipt shows a balance due of \$1,055.00 (the first receipt shows a beginning balance due of \$2,389.00). The key question, then, is: Do the above described receipts evidence the intention of Mrs. Neil and the defendants to create a mortgage? Defendants respectfully submit that this question must be answered in the negative.

It is important to note that the receipts in question show any of a number of possible relationships between Mrs. Neil and the defendants. The following is a partial list of such possible relationships:

1. Mortgagor-Mortgagee

Admittedly, receipts like the ones in question could show payment by Mrs. Neil as mortgagor to the Hansens as mortgagees. However, in view of the fact that the receipts cease in August, 1949, showing a remaining balance of in excess of 40 percent of the starting balance, and in view of the fact that none of the receipts refer to a loan or to a mortgage, this explanation seems unlikely.

Furthermore, if the defendants understood that they held a mortgage in the subject property, it is difficult to understand why they would have not foreclosed on their mortgage or to have exacted interest on the underlying obligation.

2. Contract of Sale

The receipts might also be interpreted to show that the Hansens were selling their two-thirds interest in the subject property to Mrs. Neil by an oral installment contract.

3. Repayment of Unsecured Loan

Since plaintiff has failed to adduce any evidence of a mortgage, it is also fair to assume that Mrs. Neil considered herself to be indebted to the Hansens by virtue of their having purchased the property with their own money and having placed Mrs. Neil's name on the deed as a one-third interest holder. The receipts could therefore show an attempt by Mrs. Neil to repay the Hansens for their having purchased her one-third interest, or for their allowing her to remain in possession of the home and to keep the rent money.

4. Welfare Payments

One other explanation for the existence of the receipts has been offered. Mrs. Hansen testified that she gave her mother the receipts without actually having received money to allow Mrs. Neil to qualify for extra welfare benefits. The practice of giving receipts was terminated in 1949 when Mrs. Neil remarried and thus became ineligible for the benefits which had been obtained by use of the receipts.

The above discussion is not intended to convince this court of the correctness of any one of the proposed explanations.

for the existence of the receipts. Rather, it simply illustrates the fact that the receipts are ambiguous in describing the relationship between Mrs. Neil and the defendants. Thus, if the receipts are, indeed, memoranda as the plaintiff suggests, then they are memoranda which do not set forth the terms of the alleged contract with sufficient clarity to permit specific performance. Recognizing this fact, the trial court concluded:

. . .

8. The receipts executed by Mrs. Hansen were insufficient to take the alleged agreement out of the statute of frauds under the doctrine of part performance or written memorandum. (Tr. 114.)

Finally, it is clear that the doctrine of part performance has no application to this case, because that doctrine is applicable only where plaintiff seeks specific performance. See Section 25-5-8, supra. In the instant action, plaintiff has specifically stated that her action for quiet title is based upon the theory of equitable mortgage. (Brief of Appellant, page 1.) Furthermore, even if plaintiff changes her theory to specific performance, her use of that remedy is barred by the statute of limitations and by the fact that Mrs. Neil's performance was incomplete. Thus, it has been stated:

And although the promisee under a unilateral contract is not entitled to specific performance while the contract remains executory on his part, he may be awarded specific performance after he has performed his part of the contract.

The practical effect of this distinction is that while contracts which lack mutuality may not be specifically enforced as long as they are executory on both sides, when the plaintiff has fully executed his obligations he may be entitled to specific performance. 71 Am. Jur. 2d Specific Performance, §26, at 44.

Consistent with this doctrine, the trial court concluded:

. . .

9. Even if the alleged agreement existed, plaintiff would not be entitled to specific performance, since Mrs. Neil did not complete her performance. (Tr. 114)

From the foregoing, it is clear that the court correctly ruled that plaintiff's action is barred by the statute of frauds.

POINT III

THE COURT BELOW WAS CORRECT IN RULING THAT THE
APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND THAT THE
DOCTRINE OF LACHES BAR PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM

Plaintiff alleges that the court below was in error when it ruled that her claim was barred by Utah's statutes of limitations and by the doctrine of laches. However, a review of the proceedings below, as well as an examination of the applicable law, reveals that the court was correct in its ruling. Defendants will discuss these doctrines separately in the balance of this Point.

A. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS APPLICABLE TO AN EQUITABLE ACTION WHERE, LIKE HERE, THE PLAINTIFF SEEKS AFFIRMATIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff's attack on the court's finding that the statute of limitations is applicable to the instant action is based upon the premise that "a quiet title action is basically equitable and therefore, not barred by any statute of limitations". (Appellate Brief, p. 16.) Plaintiff cites no authority in support of this proposition. Indeed, an examination of the law reveals that the authorities do not support the rule proposed by the plaintiff.

Utah's Statute of Limitations makes no distinction between actions at law and at equity. Section 78-12-1 states, for example,

Civil actions can be commenced only within the periods prescribed in this chapter, after the cause of action shall have accrued, except where in special cases a different limitation is prescribed by statute. (Emphasis added)

Most jurisdictions have taken the position that an equitable action comes within the purview of "dragnet" or "catchall" provisions such as Section 78-12-25, Utah Code Ann. (1953). Thus, it has been stated:

A provision that an action for relief not therein-before provided for must be commenced within a prescribed period after the cause of action shall have accrued has been held to apply to all suits in equity not strictly of concurrent cognisance in law and equity. 51 Am. Jur. 2d, Limitation of Actions, §83.

The Utah Supreme Court adopted a similar position in the case of Branting v. Salt Lake City, 47 Utah 296, 153 P. 995 (1915). There the plaintiff brought a quiet title action against a municipal corporation in an attempt to remove a tax lien which had been imposed as the result of a special sewer tax. Among other defenses the defendant stated that the action was barred by Section 2883, Comp. Laws of 1907 which provided:

An action for relief not hereinbefore provided for must be commenced within four years after the cause of action shall have accrued.

The trial court concluded that the statute was not applicable, but the Supreme Court reversed saying:

We are very clearly of the opinion that, while actions by which nothing is sought except to remove a cloud from or to quiet the title to real property as against apparent or stale claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, yet we are also clear that all actions in which the principle purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief, as was the case here, clearly can come within the provisions of Section 2883, supra. Id., at 1001.

A similar result was reached in Davidson v. Salt Lake City, 95 Utah 347, 81 P.2d 374 (1938). There plaintiff brought suit in equity seeking to have a deed set aside and to have title to the subject property quieted in himself. Plaintiff's complaint asserted that the deed in question was obtained by fraud. The defendant raised as one of its defenses the applicable statute of limitations relating to an action for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake. The trial court agreed with the defendant's contentions and entered judgment for defendant. On appeal, the Supreme Court affirmed. In doing so, the court reiterated the rule of Branting.

This court has also held that, although actions by which nothing is sought except to remove a cloud from or to quiet the title to real property as against apparent or stale claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, yet the statute does apply to actions in which the principal purpose is to obtain some affirmative relief. Id., at 376.

The court then noted that in the case before it the plaintiff had sought affirmative relief in that he had sought cancellation of the deed. Id.

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